Schernhammer Eva, MD, DrPH

Harvard Medical School
Harvard School of Public Health
Brigham and Women's Hospital
Channing Division of Network Medicine
181 Longwood Avenue
Boston, MA 02115

Phone: 617-525-4648

Email: eva.schernhammer@channing.harvard.edu

Institution to which the award was made: Brigham and Women's Hospital 75 Francis Street Boston, MA 02115

Project Title:

Novel Circadian Exposure Metrics for Shift Workers

November 10, 2019

Co-investigators: Céline Vetter

Project director: Eva Schernhammer

Sponsors: NIOSH/CDC

Grant number: R21-OH-011052-01

Start and ending dates: 09/01/2016 - 08/31/2019

Table of Contents.

	Page Number
List of Abbreviations	2
Abstract	3
SECTION 1	4
Significant or Key Findings	4
Translation of Findings	4
Research Outcomes/ Impact	4
SECTION 2 – Scientific Report	5
Background	5
Specific Aims	5
Procedures and Methodology	6
Results	7
Aim 1	7
Aim 2	8
Discussion and Conclusion	8
Publications	9
Inclusion of gender and minority study subjects	9
Inclusion of children	9
Materials available for other investigators	9
Bibliography	10

List of Terms and Abbreviations.

WHO	World Health Organization				
NHS2	Nurses' Health Study 2				
NHS	Nurses' Health Study				
NHS3	Nurses' Health Study 3				
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus				
BMI	Body-mass Index				
yrs	years				
MEQ	Morningness-Eveningness Questionnaire				
IQR	Interquartile range				
SD	standard deviation				
OR	Odds ratio				
MV	Multi-variable				
95% CI	95% confidence interval				
Ptrend	P-value for trend test				
Т	Tertile				

Abstract.

Novel Exposure Metrics for Shift Workers

Correspondence: Eva Schernhammer, MD, DrPH, Channing Division of Network Medicine, 181 Longwood Ave, Boston MA 02115. Email: eva.schernhammer@channing.harvard.edu

Worker groups studied. Almost 15 million Americans regularly work alternate shifts (1). Observational studies have consistently associated rotating shift work with increases in cancer risk, prompting the WHO in December 2007 to classify night shift work a probable carcinogen – the main operating mechanism being assumed circadian disruption by means of melatonin suppression (2). The broad range of other adverse outcomes affected by working at night implied the necessity for improved tools to comprehensively capture the "exposure" of relevance, i.e. circadian disruption. Future research would benefit from a tool that aids in a more complete description of work schedules and their effects on human cancer risk.

Approach. Building on detailed information regarding work hours and sleep in two distinct, prospective cohorts, novel exposure metrics were created that aimed to juxtaposition internal (i.e. preferred sleep timing) with external (i.e. work schedule) clock. In addition to the work and sleep assessments, these two cohorts, Nurses' Health Study 2 (NHS2) and 3 (NHS3), also offer rich information participants' numerous health and lifestyle variables which have been regularly assessed by the biennial mailed questionnaire in NHS2 since 1989, and in NHS3 since its inception in 2010, enabling careful control for potential confounding factors, including use of medications, including antidepressants, anxiolytics, anti-hypertensive and cholesterol-lowering drugs, anti-inflammatory agents, plus health issues including depression, depressive symptoms, hypertension, high cholesterol, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, neurologic diseases, etc. Besides BMI, there is also detailed information on diet and chronotype in both cohorts.

Key Findings. Over the past decade, our own work, using data from the Nurses' Health Study cohorts has produced landmark findings and generated provocative novel hypotheses related to the health effects of night work and sleep deprivation: We showed that night shift work increases the risk of a number of different cancers (3-9); we also linked rotating night shift work, through its profound effects on metabolism and weight (i.e. obesity) with other major chronic diseases, including cardiovascular disease (10), metabolic syndrome (11), hypertension (12, 13), stroke (14), endometriosis (15), type 2 diabetes (T2DM) (16, 17). Building on this large body of prior work, in our current project, we were able to successfully demonstrate the utility of two novel and independent exposure metrics capturing circadian strain in night workers, thus providing an important tool in future research, which has been hampered by imprecise exposure assessments leading to bias towards the null in several published studies.

How the results relate to improvements for worker safety or health. This project's results will not have any direct impact on the NHS cohorts, but the findings may lead to changes in shift work practice that may benefit women who work rotating night shifts in the future. Ultimately, as outlined in detail in our proposal, the newly developed exposure metrics, once further validated, are geared towards enabling researchers to more fully delineate the adverse health effects of night shift work by also considering the biologically relevant substrate, i.e. circadian disruption in their exposure assessments.

SECTION 1

Significant or Key Findings.

Aim 1: We derived two new night work exposure measures in large prospective cohort studies of nurses: the NHS2 and NHS3 cohorts. Specifically, based on a participant's morning versus evening preference (chronotype), and the relative frequency of a given shift within a month, we computed the *mismatch score*. The *shift lag* in contrast used individual mid-sleep times on free days, an established proxy for chronotype, and mid-work times to derive the lag between mid-sleep and mid-work. While for the *mismatch score*, higher scores represent presumably more of a strain, the more the *shift lag* is centered around 12h the better, as work hours 12h opposed to the mid-sleep at least likely to curtail sleep times. We were able to assign detectable mismatch to one third of the population, supporting the utility of these new exposure measures

Aim 2: We set out to study how these newly created measures of circadian strain related to body mass index (BMI; a higher BMI among night workers is one known adverse effect of circadian disruption in that population), first in NHS3, and then replication in NHS2. Both analyses confirmed that a higher mismatch score was correlated with higher BMI. results suggest that we have developed a potentially useful set of exposure metrics that can help inform individual-level circadian strain in shift workers. Future work is needed to examine the metrics in relationship to other disease endpoints. In addition, intervention and simulation studies can use the score to predict and monitor circadian strain in the workplace setting.

Translation of Findings.

Our findings suggest that we have developed a potentially useful set of exposure metrics that can help inform individual-level circadian strain in shift workers. Future work is needed to examine the metrics in relationship to other disease endpoints. In addition, intervention and simulation studies can use the score to predict and monitor circadian strain in the workplace setting.

Research Outcomes/Impact.

We were funded to comprehensively describe and develop novel shift work metrics, to continue work towards improving exposure assessments in night shift workers, that more fully capture the one aspect that is central to adverse health outcomes in this population – circadian strain. All aims are completed and manuscripts are currently prepared and will be submitted over the next year.

Using two novel exposure metrics that incorporate both sleep and work hours to address the phenomenon of circadian strain in night workers (i.e. sleeping at hours that are at odds with the preferred sleep time that our internal clock or circadian system dictates), we were able to confirm a correlation between higher circadian strain and higher BMI. Hence, these newly developed tools merit further attention, and warrant application in future studies to confirm their utility also for other relevant disease endpoints. Ultimately, these novel exposure metrics could represent a substantial step forward in the aim to improve exposure assessment in night shift workers, to better delineate the multi-facetted negative health effects of night work.

SECTION 2

Scientific Report

Background.

The periodic alternation between activity and rest – or wake and sleep – is one of the most notable and evolutionary oldest human behaviors. Its rhythmicity is orchestrated by our circadian system (18), which in addition to sleep regulates a vast number of important bodily functions, including the timing of gene expression (19, 20), physiology (21, 22), metabolism (23, 24), and cognition (25). The synchronization between the internal, biological rhythm and the 24h sunlight/dark cycle (26-29) produces a specific phase relationship between the two, also referred to as chronotype (30-32). Late chronotypes typically have a 'slow' circadian clock (cycle length of >24h), which will embed later within the 24h day, so that they fall asleep and wake up later within the 24h day as early types ('faster clocks', <24h). As with sleep and wake behavior, other bodily rhythms (e.g. core body temperature, melatonin (33, 34), and gene expression (35-37)) occur with peaks and troughs later within the 24h day in late chronotypes compared to early ones.

This elaborate timing system is chronically challenged in shift workers, as the body tries to adapt to ever changing work-induced light/dark cycles (and concomitant activity patterns), eventually leading to a loss of synchrony between rhythms. The resulting circadian strain (also referred to as circadian-, or chrono-disruption (38, 39)) is thought to underlie the consistently observed associations between shift work and adverse health outcomes, including sleep, metabolic, and mood disorders, cardio-vascular outcomes and cancer (17, 40-55). Although based on small case numbers, a few recent studies report that the health risk imposed by shift work may vary by chronotype (56-60). We, too, previously evaluated the combined effects of chronotype and shift work in the Nurses' Health Study 2 (NHS2). We found that chronotype is significantly associated with the risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D), but that this risk depends on work schedules: among women who work day schedules only, early chronotypes did not have a higher T2D risk, whereas late chronotypes experienced a significantly higher T2D risk. By contrast, among women exposed to night shift work, only late chronotypes experienced hardly any increases in T2D risk, whereas the risk for early chronotypes increased steadily with increasing number of years of night work. These results further underlined the need for more detailed occupational work schedule assessments, which also take into account a person's chronotype when delineating the aspects of work schedules critical for chronic disease risk. We aimed to close this gap by developing and applying circadian strain metrics that quantify the combined effect of chronotype and working times. The Nurses' Health Study 3 (NHS3) had recently and for the first time incorporated detailed work schedule and chronotype assessments (32, 61). This put us in the unique position to derive circadian exposure metrics quantifying individuals' work schedule-associated circadian strain. By making use of the detailed assessments in NHS3, this innovative and exploratory project aimed to significantly push forward the field by providing the basis for further delineating the acute and chronic effects of circadian disruption on health and wellbeing.

Specific Aims. The following specific aims were proposed in the original application:

Aim 1: Development of novel, personalized circadian exposure metrics using two most commonly used measures of chronotype:

- a. Development of **mismatch score** between shift work type and chronotype, based on the categorical chronotype measure of diurnal preference.
- b. Computation of '**shift lag**', i.e. the difference between mid-points of sleep (the second most common measure of chronotype) and work, to quantify circadian strain.
- c. Comparison and correlation of both metrics across various work schedules to identify similarities, strengths, and potential weaknesses.

Secondary Aim: We will provide a summary and description of contemporary health care work schedules in NHS3. We will also classify schedules by circadian strain, potentially informing chronotype-specific prevention strategies.

Aim 2: Application of the novel circadian exposure metrics to examine associations between circadian strain and body mass index (BMI) in NHS3 and, for validation, in NHS2. BMI is a central chronic disease risk factor that has previously been linked to alterations of the circadian system.

- a. Hypothesis: increased circadian strain is positively associated with BMI.
- b. Assessment of the interaction effect between circadian strain and further work schedule characteristics (such as weekly and daily working hours, on call, part time vs. full time, rotational vs. permanent schedules) on BMI.

Procedures and Methodology.

Study Population

The Nurses' Health Study 3 has enrolled 38,295 women aged 19-46 since 2010. Male health care workers will be recruited from January 2015 onwards, significantly improving the generalizability of the study. Via a web-based infrastructure, this cohort answers questionnaires every 6 months, until the introduction of synchronized yearly assessments in 2016. Detailed occupational and chronotype assessments are included in the annual and bi-yearly questionnaires so that all registered and newly recruited participants will have the possibility to respond to these critical questions. Additionally, lifestyle factors, health status, medication use, and environmental exposures are queried systematically. Response rates in the cohort are relatively high, spanning from 72% to 89%, depending on questionnaire cycle since its start in 2010. For Aim 2, we will additionally make use data of the Nurses' Health Study 2, a prospective cohort study of 116,430 women (25-42 yrs at baseline in 1989). Bi-annual, self-administered questionnaires collect exposure and disease information. In 2009, the primary work schedule (*i.e.*, permanent daytime schedule, permanent night shifts, permanent early morning shifts, rotating schedules including or excluding night shifts), and a categorical assessment of diurnal preference, indicative of chronotype, have been assessed. In this cohort, response rates are in general as high as 90%.

Study Design and Study Procedures

All study materials were mailed to participants. The study was approved by the Harvard School of Public Health and the Brigham and Women's Hospital Human Subjects Committee, and written informed consent was obtained from subjects.

Exposure and Outcome Assessments

Chronotype. In the NHS2, chronotype was queried in 2009 based on a single question of diurnal preference, resulting in a categorization of 'definitely a morning type', 'more of a morning than an evening type', 'more of an evening than a morning type', 'definitely an evening type', 'neither'. This single question was derived from one of the earliest, and to date still prime measure of chronotype, the Morningness/Eveningness Questionnaire (MEQ (61)) and was validated using sleep logs (62). The same categorical assessment is introduced to the NHS3, along with the second most common newly emerging chronotype assessment, using sleep timing on free days. More specifically, this assessment uses the mid-point of sleep on free days (MSF) as a marker for circadian phase of entrainment or chronotype (30, 32, 36, 63). In shift workers this approach resulted in an extensive questionnaire that relies on the assessment of sleep/wake behavior during all shifts and free days. collecting a large amount of information (64). However, such lengthy assessment is not feasible in large-scale epidemiological research. Given that mid-sleep only shows moderate after-effects of the previous shift worked (i.e. maximum delta between means = 40min) (64), we can use a general free day sleep behavior for chronotype assessment, which has recently been implemented in NHS3. Additionally, sleep timing has proven useful as a proxy for chronotype, as it also correlates well with physiological phase markers, such as dim light melatonin onset (34, 36, 63). Though chronotype has been suggested to change with age, this applies especially to adolescence, where teenagers progressively change into later and later types (65, 66). Therefore, in the current study, we deem age-effects negligible given the adult age range in both NHS2 and NHS3. Finally, both chronotype measures, diurnal preference and sleep timing, correlate relatively well with one another (correlation coefficients between -0.5 (34) and -0.7 (67)).

Working Times. The web-based format of the NHS3 allows, for the first time within the existing Nurses' Health Studies, to systematically query exact start and end times (0.5h resolution) for each shift that is part of the participants' schedule. In addition to these directly collected variables, we will be able to derive shift duration (daily working hours), and compute a mid-work variable (mid-point between work start and end) that we can

then relate to individual chronotype. Exact working times are unavailable in the largely paper-based NHS2; we will therefore rely on pre-specified working times that the 2009 questionnaire collected (e.g. night shifts between 23:00 and 7:00).

Additional work schedule characteristics. In addition to working times, the NHS3 questionnaires gathers a range of additional work schedule characteristics, such as intensity of the schedule (i.e. relative frequency of shifts), duration of exposure to the current schedule (i.e. in years and month). Participants also indicate whether they work full or part time, and if they work other jobs, which will provide valuable information on potential time for recovery. Last, we will be able to label schedule as permanent or rotating. For NHS2, a range of work schedule characteristics were assessed in 2009, both for the current position, but also retrospectively from age 20-25, 26-35, 36-46 and 46+. Specifically, we know whether women worked full or part time, the primary work schedule (i.e. 'days/evenings only', 'nights only', 'early mornings only', 'rotating with nights', or 'rotating without nights'), the intensity of night shift work (number of night shifts), and duration of exposure (in years).

Body Mass Index. Weight and height are queried in the NHS3 on every questionnaire; in the NHS2, bi-annual questionnaires have assessed body weight and height since 1989. We will use this information to extract body mass index (in kg/m₂).

Ascertainment of other Covariates. Numerous health and lifestyle variables have been regularly assessed by the biennial mailed questionnaire in NHS2 since 1989, and in NHS3 since it inception in 2010, enabling careful control for potential confounding factors, including use of medications, including antidepressants, anxiolytics, anti-hypertensive and cholesterol-lowering drugs, anti-inflammatory agents, plus health issues including depression, depressive symptoms, hypertension, high cholesterol, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, neurologic diseases, etc. Besides BMI, we have data on diet (in NHS3, the first dietary assessment takes place in 2015), physical activity, etc. Validation studies have confirmed the information is well-reported. These data are updated repeatedly, thus we can take lifestyle/health changes into consideration.

Results.

Aim 1:

As part of this aim, we derived the exposure metrics mismatch score (Aim 1a; mismatch between diurnal type and the shift worked on) as well as shift lag (Aim 1b; the difference between the mid-point of work and sleep times) in NHS3. A reduced mismatch score was also derived in NHS2, where only night shifts frequency, but not morning and evening shift frequency, was available as queried in 2009. In NHS3, we derived the mismatch score based on i) a categorical measure of diurnal preference to assess chronotype (question 19 of the MEQ, Horne and Ostberg, 1976), and i) relative shift frequency within a month. After excluding all individuals who did not report chronotype, sleep timing, or work schedule information, the final analytical sample comprised 17,844 NHS3 participants. Of those, 19.6% were self-reported early types, 64.3% intermediate ones, and 16.2% late chronotypes. Nearly 80% reported that their current schedule included day shifts (median and inter-quartile range for start and end times: start: 7:30, IQR: 7:00;8:00; end: 17:00; IQR: 16:00, 19:00), 6.6% worked early morning shifts (start: 6:30; IQR: 5:30; 7:00; end: 16:00, IQR: 14:30; 18:30), 13.3% worked evening shifts (start: 15:00; IQR: 13:00; 15:00; end: 23:00, IQR: 19:30; 23:30), and 21% reported night shift work (start: 19:00; IQR: 19:00; 19:00; end: 7:30, IQR: 7:00; 7:30). This high-resolution information on work schedules is also useful to gain an understanding of the contemporary work schedule amongst nurses in the NHS3. Based on a participant's chronotype, and the relative frequency of a given shift within a month, we computed the mismatch score (mean, SD). The shift lag in contrast used individual mid-sleep times on free days, an established proxy for chronotype, and mid-work times to derive the lag between mid-sleep and mid-work. While for the mismatch score, higher scores represent presumably more of a strain, the more the shift lag is centered around 12h, the better, as work hours 12h opposed to the mid-sleep at least likely to curtail sleep times. We use the absolute difference between mid-sleep time (mean: 3:22, SD: 1:17) and shift-specific mid-work times, weighted by the relative shift frequency in a month's schedule. The mean mismatch score in NHS3 (N=17,844) is 5.2 (SD: 8.8), but only about 1/3 of the population has detectable mismatch according to this metric (N=5,993). Within those

participants, the mean mismatch score is 15.4. Shift lag is a more fine-grained metric, and in the NHS3 participants, the average lag between mid-sleep and mid-work was 8.9h (SD: 3.2h).

With regards to the two, central chronotype measures - diurnal preference and sleep timing, we observed that they correlate well with each other (Spearman's rank correlation, r= 0.48, p<0.001).

Aim 2:

In the NHS3 online questionnaires, we also queried information on current body weight (continuous, in lb), and together with height information collected at the baseline from each participant, we computed body mass index.). Replication analyses were conducted in the NHS2 with a reduced mismatch score and BMI, both assessed in 2009. We assessed the cross-sectional association between the novel circadian exposure metrics and BMI/obesity status. As described above, the mismatch score was highly skewed, and 75% of NHS3 participants had a score of 0. Comparing those a mismatch score of 0 to those with a score >0 showed that NHS3 participants experiencing mismatch were 30% more likely to be obese. Amongst the 5,993 with any mismatch score, a higher mismatch score was associated with higher odds of obesity (T1: Ref; T2: OR=1.27, 95%CI = 1.09-1.49; T3: OR=1.38, 95%CI = 1.18-1.62, ptrend = 0.0005). Multivariable (MV) adjustment accounted for age (years), sex, marital status, number of children, sleep duration, snoring, chronic diseases, such as cancer or cardiometabolic disease, and depression. Shift lag was much more evenly distributed in the cohort, due to its higher resolution. Compared to those with the lowest shift lag (i.e. where work hours are closest to their sleep midpoint), those with less shift lag were less likely to be obese (MV Q2: OR=0.88, 95%CI=0.80,0.97; Q3: OR=0.73, 95%CI=0.66,0.81; OR=0.70, 95%CI=0.63,0.78; ptrend<0.0001).

In NHS2, few women were still currently work night shifts, namely 3.8%. We therefore created a binary classification (mismatch, yes/no). Having a current mismatch score >0 was associated with higher BMI, even after multivariable (MV) adjustment (mean difference in BMI: 0.58, 95%CI: 0.35, 0.82), and a 19% higher odds of being obese (MV OR=1.19, 95%CI: 1.08, 1.31). MV adjustment included age (in months), husband's education, marital status, number of children, household income (census-tract), menopausal status, sleep duration, snoring, physical activity (in quintiles), diet quality (in quintiles), and comorbidities such as cancer or cardiometabolic disease. Based on the number of years women worked in each schedule they indicated night shift exposure, we could extrapolate an estimation of a lifetime mismatch score. Women with a higher lifetime mismatch score (in quartiles) were more likely to have a higher BMI (Q1 vs. Q4: 1.08, 95%CI: 0.96, 1.21, ptrend<0.001) and to be obese (Q1 vs. Q4: 1.44, 95%CI: 1.36, 1.52, ptrend<0.001). Overall, results were similar when we examined BMI as an outcome.

Discussion and Conclusion.

Shift work is an indispensable part of modern life. In the United States, almost 15 percent of full-time wage and salary workers work alternative shifts (68). A growing body of literature provides evidence linking night-shift work with increased risk of several malignancies including breast cancer (4-6, 69-75), endometrial cancer (8), prostate cancer (76, 77), colorectal cancer (78), and lymphoma (79). Night-shift work is also believed to be associated with other health problems such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, gastro-intestinal disorders, and sleep disorders (80-82). One hypothesis is that night shift work impacts the health of shift workers through disruption of circadian rhythm (83).

Several results of previously published literature have been hampered by severe exposure misclassification, In 2011, a group of experts convened by the International Agency of Research on Cancer (IARC) called for improved shift work exposure assessment that take into account chronotype and rely on more detailed work schedule assessments (84). However, to date, exposure metrics have not changed fundamentally. We therefore aimed to close this gap and systematically develop and apply circadian metrics that quantify the combined effect of chronotype and working times.

For the first time, we have made use of the newly included detailed work schedule assessment in juxtaposition with the two most commonly used chronotype measures in the Nurses' Health Study 3 (NHS3), a large-scale cohort study, which began enrollment in 2010. By developing improved exposure metrics, directly reflecting circadian strain as one of the central biological mechanisms linking shift work and adverse health outcomes,

we sought to develop easy, and widely-applicable metrics for personalized occupational risk assessment. This research, and the preliminary validation of our newly derived metrics, has the potential to significantly facilitate future studies examining the adverse health and safety outcomes associated with work schedules, directly taking into account chronotype. Ultimately, the newly developed metrics can be used to examine the relationship between occupational circadian strain and health and safety outcomes, and identify critical doses for prevention strategies, across industry settings and sectors. Our application addresses primarily the NIOSH sector program 'Exposure Assessment', but its implications will also be relevant to the programs 'Prevention through Design' as well as 'Total Worker Health'.

Publications.

Journal Article

Vetter C, Gaskins A, Lawson CC, Rich-Edwards J, Chavarro JE, Schernhammer ES: [2019] Circadian Strain and Obesity in the Nurses' Health Study 3. In preparation. (Aim 1 and 2)

Vetter C, Chang SC, Devore EE, Rohrer F, Okereke OI, Schernhammer ES: [2018] Prospective study of chronotype and incident depression among middle- and older-aged women in the Nurses' Health Study II. J Psychiatr Res. 2018 May 25;103:156-160. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.05.022. [Epub ahead of print] PubMed PMID: 29860110. PMCID PMC6016366. (Aim 2)

Vetter C. [2018] Circadian disruption – what do we actually mean? Eur J Neurosci Nov 7. doi: 10.1111/ejn.14255. [Epub ahead of print]. PMCID: PMC6504624. (Aim 1)

Proceedings

Vetter C, Gaskins AJ, Lawson CC, Rich-Edwards J, Chavarro JE, Schernhammer, ES: [2018] Developing exposure metrics using a prospective repository of work hours, sleep and circadian phenotypes: the Nurses Health Study 3. Abstract presented at the 23rd International Symposium on Shiftwork and Working Time, Uluru, Australia. (Aim 1)

Inclusion of gender and minority study subjects.

All subjects in NHS2 are women. This is appropriate because the cohort is already established and was originally limited to women as breast cancer was the primary interest; breast cancer in men is very rare while breast cancer is a leading cause of death among U.S. women. The population is also predominantly white, reflecting the ethnic background of women entering nursing in the U.S. in the 1970's and 1980's. There were no exclusions based on race in the original enrollment. In NHS3, men were also allowed into the study, though they are still vastly underrepresented (<500), and were not considered in our analyses

According to the May 1997 supplement to the Current Population Survey (CPS), a greater proportion of blacks (20.9 percent) worked alternative shifts than either whites (16.1 percent) or Hispanics (16.0 percent) (85). Furthermore, even on the same job, it is usually the case that more blacks than whites work on alternative shift. Thus, despite the lack of minorities within this cohort, our research will serve to a great extent members of minority groups, particularly blacks, based on the assumption of no ethnic differences in the underlying patho-physiology.

Inclusion of children.

By the nature of this project, only adults were eligible to participate. Because individuals with work schedules were at the center of this project, children were not considered as part of the scientific aims.

Materials available for other investigators.

The derivation of novel metrics is in detail summarized in the peer-reviewed literature (publication in preparation).

Bibliography.

- 1. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Workers on Flexible and Shift Schedules in 2004 Summary.(http://www.bls.gov/news.release/flex.nr0.htm).
- 2. Straif K, Baan R, Grosse Y, et al. Carcinogenicity of shift-work, painting, and fire-fighting. *The Lancet Oncology* 2007;8(12):1065-6.
- 3. Wegrzyn LR, Tamimi RM, Rosner BA, et al. Rotating Night-Shift Work and the Risk of Breast Cancer in the Nurses' Health Studies. *Am J Epidemiol* 2017;186(5):532-40.
- 4. Schernhammer ES, Laden F, Speizer FE, et al. Rotating night shifts and risk of breast cancer in women participating in the nurses' health study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2001;93(20):1563-8.
- 5. Megdal SP, Kroenke CH, Laden F, et al. Night work and breast cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Cancer* 2005;41(13):2023-32.
- 6. Schernhammer ES, Kroenke CH, Laden F, et al. Night work and risk of breast cancer. *Epidemiology* 2006;17(1):108-11.
- 7. Papantoniou K, Devore EE, Massa J, et al. Rotating Night Shift work and Colorectal Cancer Risk in the Nurses' Health Studies. *Int J Cancer* 2018.
- 8. Viswanathan AN, Hankinson SE, Schernhammer ES. Night shift work and the risk of endometrial cancer. *Cancer research* 2007;67(21):10618-22.
- 9. Schernhammer ES. Rotating night shift work and lung cance risk among female nurses in the US. *Under Review* 2013.
- 10. Vetter C, Devore EE, Wegrzyn LR, et al. Association Between Rotating Night Shift Work and Risk of Coronary Heart Disease Among Women. *Jama* 2016;315(16):1726-34.
- 11. McMullan CJ, Curhan GC, Schernhammer ES, et al. Association of nocturnal melatonin secretion with insulin resistance in nondiabetic young women. *Am J Epidemiol* 2013;178(2):231-8.
- 12. Lieu SJ, Curhan GC, Schernhammer ES, et al. Rotating night shift work and disparate hypertension risk in African-Americans. *Journal of hypertension* 2012;30(1):61-6.
- 13. Forman JP, Curhan GC, Schernhammer ES. Urinary melatonin and risk of incident hypertension among young women. *Journal of hypertension* 2010;28(3):446-51.
- 14. Brown DL, Feskanich D, Sanchez BN, et al. Rotating night shift work and the risk of ischemic stroke. *Am J Epidemiol* 2009;169(11):1370-7.
- 15. Schernhammer ES, Vitonis AF, Rich-Edwards J, et al. Rotating nightshift work and the risk of endometriosis in premenopausal women. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2011;205(5):476 e1-8.
- 16. Vetter C, Dashti HS, Lane JM, et al. Night Shift Work, Genetic Risk, and Type 2 Diabetes in the UK Biobank. *Diabetes Care* 2018;41(4):762-9.
- 17. Pan A, Schernhammer ES, Sun Q, et al. Rotating night shift work and risk of type 2 diabetes: two prospective cohort studies in women. *PLoS medicine* 2011;8(12):e1001141.
- 18. Czeisler CA, Gooley JJ. Sleep and circadian rhythms in humans. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* 2007;72:579-97.
- 19. Hughes ATL, Piggins HD. Disruption of daily rhythms in gene expression: The importance of being synchronised. *Bioessays* 2014:n/a-n/a.
- 20. Reppert SM, Weaver DR. Molecular analysis of mammalian circadian ryhthms. *Annu Rev Physiol* 2001;63(1):647-76.
- 21. Wyatt JK, Dijk D-J, Ronda JM, et al. Interaction of circadian and sleep/wake homeostatic processes modulate psychomotor vigilance test (PVT) performance *Sleep Res* 1997;26(759).
- 22. Wyatt JK, Ritz- De Cecco A, Czeisler CA, et al. Circadian temperature and melatonin rhythms, sleep, and neurobehavioural function in humans living on a 20-h day. *Am J Physiol* 1999;277:R1152-R63.
- 23. Green CB, Takahashi JS, Bass J. The meter of metabolism. Cell 2008;134(5):728-42.
- 24. Bass J. Circadian topology of metabolism. *Nature* 2012;491(7424):348-56.
- 25. Schmidt C, Collette F, Cajochen C, et al. A time to think: circadian rhythms in human cognition. *Cog Neuropsychol* 2007;24(7):755-89.
- 26. Pittendrigh CS. Circadian systems: Entrainment. In: Aschoff J, ed. *Biological rhythms*. New York: Plenum Publishing, 1981.
- 27. Roenneberg T, Daan S, Merrow M. The Art of Entrainment. J Biol Rhyth 2003;18(3):183-94.
- 28. Roenneberg T, Hut R, Daan S, et al. Entrainment Concepts Revisited. *J Biol Rhyth* 2010;25(5):329-39.

- 29. Roenneberg T, Merrow M. Entrainment of the human circadian clock. *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantative Biology*: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 2007:1-7.
- 30. Roenneberg T. What is chronotype? Sleep Biol Rhythms 2012;10(2):75-6.
- 31. Roenneberg T, Kuehnle T, Juda M, et al. Epidemiology of the human circadian clock. *Sleep Med Rev* 2007;11(6):429-38.
- 32. Roenneberg T, Wirz-Justice A, Merrow M. Life between Clocks: Daily Temporal Patterns of Human Chronotypes. *J Biol Rhythms* 2003;18(1):80-90.
- 33. Duffy JF, Rimmer DW, Czeisler CA. Association of intrinsic circadian period with morningness-eveningness, usual wake time, and circadian phase. *Behav Neurosc* 2001;115:895-9.
- 34. Kitamura S, Hida A, Aritake S, et al. Validity of the Japanese version of the Munich ChronoType Questionnaire. *Chronobiol Int* 2014;31(7):845-50.
- 35. Novakova M, Sladek M, Sumova A. Human chronotype is determined in bodily cells under real-life conditions. *Chronobiol Int* 2013;30(4):607-17.
- 36. Archer SN, Viola AU, Kyriakopoulou V, et al. Inter-Individual Differences In Habitual Sleep Timing and Entrained Phase of Endogenous Circadian Rhythms of BMAL1, PER2 and PER3 mRNA in Human Leukocytes. *Sleep* 2008;31(5):608-17.
- 37. Brown SA, Kunz D, Dumas A, et al. Molecular insights into human daily behavior. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2008;105(5):1602-7.
- 38. Rüger M, Scheer FAJL. Effects of circadian disruption on cardiometabolic system. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* 2009;10(4):245-60.
- 39. Erren TC, Reiter RJ. Defining chronodisruption. J Pineal Res 2009;46(3):245-7.
- 40. Puttonen S, Harma M, Hublin C. Shift work and cardiovascular disease pathways from circadian stress to morbidity. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2010;36(2):96-108.
- 41. Knutsson A, Jonsson B, Akerstedt T, et al. Increased risk of ischaemic heart disease in shift workers. *The Lancet* 1986;328(8498):89-92.
- 42. Sallinen M, Kecklund G. Shift work, sleep and sleepiness differences between shift schedules and systems. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2010;36(2):121-33.
- 43. Åkerstedt T. Shift work and disturbed sleep/wakefulness. *Occup Med* 2003;53(2):89-94.
- 44. Schernhammer ES, Kroenke CH, Laden F, et al. Night Work and Risk of Breast Cancer. *Epidemiology* 2006;17(1):108-11.
- 45. Schernhammer ES, Laden F, Speizer FE, et al. Rotating Night Shifts and Risk of Breast Cancer in Women Participating in the Nurses' Health Study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2001;93(20):1563-8.
- 46. Schernhammer ES, Laden F, Speizer FE, et al. Night-Shift Work and Risk of Colorectal Cancer in the Nurses' Health Study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2003;95(11):825-8.
- 47. Schernhammer ES, Vitonis AF, Rich-Edwards J, et al. Rotating nightshift work and the risk of endometriosis in premenopausal women. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2011;205(5):476.e1-.e8.
- 48. Hermansson J, Gillander Gådin K, Karlsson B, et al. Case fatality of myocardial infarction among shift workers. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 2014:1-7.
- 49. Karlsson BH, Knutsson AK, Lindahl BO, et al. Metabolic disturbances in male workers with rotating three-shift work. Results of the WOLF study. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 2003;76(6):424-30.
- 50. Kawachi I, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, et al. Prospective Study of Shift Work and Risk of Coronary Heart Disease in Women. *Circulation* 1995;92(11):3178-82.
- 51. Kivimäki M, Batty GD, Hublin C. Shift Work as a Risk Factor for Future Type 2 Diabetes: Evidence, Mechanisms, Implications, and Future Research Directions. *PLoS Med* 2011;8(12):e1001138.
- 52. Ellingsen T, Bener A, Gehani AA. Study of shift work and risk of coronary events. *The Journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health* 2007;127(6):265-7.
- 53. Boggild H, Knutsson A. Shift work, risk factors and cardiovascular disease. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1999;25(2):85-99.
- 54. Costa G. The impact of shift and night work on health. *Appl Ergon* 1996;27(1):9-16.
- 55. Costa G. Shift work and occupational medicine: an overview. *Occup Med* 2003;53(2):83-8.
- 56. Hansen J, Lassen CF. Nested case–control study of night shift work and breast cancer risk among women in the Danish military. *Occup Environ Med* 2012;69(8):551-6.
- 57. Ramin C, Devore EE, Paul-Pierre J, et al. Chronotype and Breast Cancer Risk in a Cohort of US Nurses. *Chronobiol Int* 2013;0(0):1-6.

- 58. Juda M, Vetter C, Roenneberg T. Chronotype modulates sleep duration, social jetlag and sleep quality in shift-workers. *J Biol Rhythms* 2013;28:141-51.
- 59. Papantoniou K, Castaño-Vinyals G, Espinosa A, et al. Night shift work, chronotype and prostate cancer risk in the MCC-Spain case-control study. *Int J Cancer* 2014:n/a-n/a.
- 60. Gamble KL, Motsinger-Reif AA, Hida A, et al. Shift Work in Nurses: Contribution of Phenotypes and Genotypes to Adaptation. *PLoS One* 2011;6(4):e18395.
- 61. Horne JA, Østberg O. A self-assessment questionnaire to determine morningness-eveningness in human circadian rhythms. *Int J Chronobiol* 1976;4(2):97-110.
- 62. Megdal SP, Schernhammer ES. Correlates for poor sleepers in a Los Angeles high school. *Sleep Med* 2007;9(1):60-3.
- 63. Martin SK, Eastman CI. Sleep logs of young adults with self-selected sleep times predict dim light melatonin onset. *Chronobiol Int* 2002;19:695-707.
- 64. Juda M, Vetter C, Roenneberg T. The Munich ChronoType Questionnaire for Shift-workers (MCTQShift). *J Biol Rhythms* 2013;28:130-40.
- 65. Crowley SJ, Van Reen E, LeBourgeois MK, et al. A Longitudinal Assessment of Sleep Timing, Circadian Phase, and Phase Angle of Entrainment across Human Adolescence. *PLoS One* 2014;9(11):e112199.
- 66. Roenneberg T, Kuehnle T, Pramstaller PP, et al. A marker for the end of adolescence. *Curr Biol* 2004;14(24):R1038-R9.
- 67. Zavada A, Gordijn M, Beersma D, et al. Comparison of the Munich Chronotype Questionnaire with the Horne-Östberg's Morningness-Eveningness score. *Chronobiol Int* 2005;22(2):267-78.
- 68. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Workers on Flexible and Shift Schedules in 2004. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Labor, 2005,
- 69. Davis S, Mirick DK, Stevens RG. Night shift work, light at night, and risk of breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2001;93(20):1557-62.
- 70. Hansen J. Light at night, shiftwork, and breast cancer risk. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001;93(20):1513-5.
- 71. Pukkala E, Auvinen A, Wahlberg G. Incidence of cancer among Finnish airline cabin attendants. *Bmj* 1995;311:649-52.
- 72. Rafnsson V, Sulem P, Tulinius H, et al. Breast cancer risk in airline cabin attendants: a nested case-control study in Iceland. *Occup Environ Med* 2003;60(11):807-9.
- 73. Tynes T, Hannevik M, Andersen A, et al. Incidence of breast cancer in Norwegian female radio and telegraph operators. *Cancer causes & control : CCC* 1996;7(2):197-204.
- 74. Hansen J. Increased breast cancer risk among women who work predominantly at night. *Epidemiology* 2001;12(1):74-7.
- 75. Kloog I, Haim A, Stevens RG, et al. Light at night co-distributes with incident breast but not lung cancer in the female population of Israel. *Chronobiol Int* 2008;25(1):65-81.
- 76. Conlon M, Lightfoot N, Kreiger N. Rotating shift work and risk of prostate cancer. *Epidemiology* 2007;18(1):182-3.
- 77. Kubo T, Ozasa K, Mikami K, et al. Prospective cohort study of the risk of prostate cancer among rotating-shift workers: findings from the Japan collaborative cohort study. *Am J Epidemiol* 2006;164(6):549-55.
- 78. Schernhammer ES, Laden F, Speizer FE, et al. Night-shift work and risk of colorectal cancer in the nurses' health study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2003;95(11):825-8.
- 79. Lahti TA, Partonen T, Kyyronen P, et al. Night-time work predisposes to non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Int J Cancer* 2008;123(9):2148-51.
- 80. Lockley SW, Dijk DJ, Kosti O, et al. Alertness, mood and performance rhythm disturbances associated with circadian sleep disorders in the blind. *Journal of sleep research* 2008;17(2):207-16.
- 81. Dijk DJ, Lockley SW. Integration of human sleep-wake regulation and circadian rhythmicity. *J Appl Physiol* 2002;92(2):852-62.
- 82. Rajaratnam SM, Arendt J. Health in a 24-h society. Lancet 2001;358(9286):999-1005.
- 83. Knutsson A. Health disorders of shift workers. Occup Med (Lond) 2003;53(2):103-8.
- 84. Stevens RG, Hansen J, Costa G, et al. Considerations of circadian impact for defining 'shift work' in cancer studies: IARC Working Group Report. *Occup Environ Med* 2011;68(2):154-62.

85.	Beers TM. Flexible schedules and Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2000.	shift work:	replacing the	'9-to-5' work	day? <i>Monthly La</i>	bor Review: